THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

AUG 21 2019

SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission

R. Michael Campbell, II, Commissioner; Aisha G. Taylor, Commissioner; Susan S. Barden,
Commissioner

W.C.C. File No.: 1802954
APPELLATE CASE NO.: 2019-000869

Judy Johnson, Employee, Appellant,

v.

Agape Hospice, Employer; MagMutual Insurance Company, Carrier; Respondents.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Elizabeth McMahon Pentz
McWhirter Bellinger & Assoc., P.A.
119 East Main Street
Lexington, South Carolina 29072
803.359.5523 tele
803.359.1248 fax
liz@mcwhirterlaw.com
Attorney for Appellant, Judy Johnson

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. **WHETHER THE APPELLATE PANEL RETAINED SUBJECT MATTER JURISDICTION TO CONSIDER AND HEAR THE RESPONDENTS' UNTIMELY APPEAL.**
- II. **WHETHER THE APPELLATE PANEL'S ORDER IS NULL AND VOID.**
- III. **ALTERNATIVELY, WHETHER THE APPELLATE PANEL'S DECISION WAS ERRONEOUS IN LIGHT OF THE RELIABLE, PROBATIVE, AND SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE AS A WHOLE.**

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This workers' compensation matter originated when Judy L. Johnson ("Appellant") suffered right shoulder, neck and right-hand(fingers) injuries by accident while working for Respondent Employer January 26, 2018. Authorized treating physician, Thomas D. Armsey, M.D., placed the Appellant on light duty March 2, 2018. As she worked in her assigned light duty capacity, Respondent Employer terminated Appellant on March 8, 2018. Appellant filed a March 22, 2018, S.C. Workers' Compensation Form 50 hearing request for temporary total disability ("TTD") benefits because of lost compensable time from work and wages for the period of March 8, 2018 and continuing due to the Respondent Employer's termination unsupported by cause. The Defendants filed an April 23, 2018, Form 51 answer denying that the Appellant sustained right shoulder, neck, or right hand (fingers) injuries on January 26, 2018. However, during the start of the June 26, 2019, S.C. Workers' Compensation hearing, the Defendants confirmed this claim accepted as to the right shoulder and neck. Therefore, entitlement to TTD benefits was the sole hearing issue. The parties received hearing Order directives July 10, 2018. Avery B. Wilkerson, Jr.'s, Hearing Commissioner, August 22, 2019, Order determined that Respondent Employer unjustifiably terminated Appellant while on light duty and she was entitled to TTD benefits March 8, 2019, until Appellant returned to work or an additional commission Order. The Hearing Commissioner's specific findings included:

1. I believe the Appellant, Judy L. Johnson, long term employee (2012 -2015; 2016-2018) over Gregory McCarrick Charlton less than two (2) weeks.
2. I find that the Appellant's alleged March 6, 2018, company violation did not rise to a proper termination March 8, 2018. The Appellant was on light duty when she was unjustifiably fired. I believe to a much greater extent statements made by the Appellant were not the smartest of words, nor were they ideal or clear. However, this does not excuse withholding payment of TTD under the S.C. Workers' Compensation Act. Payment of TTD should begin on March 8, 2018 and continue through the present. This was an unjustified firing.

Nineteen (19) days later, on September 10, 2018, the Respondents file a S.C. Workers' Compensation Commission Form 30 Request for Commission Review. The Full S.C. Workers' Compensation Panel ("Full Panel") heard oral arguments February 19, 2019. Respondents asserted that the Hearing Commissioner erred in finding Appellant was unjustifiably terminated and that the workplace injuries were not the cause of Appellant's inability to earn wages. Appellant argued that the Respondent's appeal was clearly untimely filed and alternatively the Hearing Commissioner's decisions were not in error.

First, the Full Panel's April 23, 2019, Order did not address the Appellant's subject matter jurisdiction argument properly raised below. Second, the Full Panel reversed the Hearing Commissioner's entire decision finding, without any supporting references in the record, that Appellant was justifiably terminated for insubordination and failure to maintain proper working relationships in violation of Respondent Employer's policies and common workplace expectations. The Full Panel's findings 4, 5, 6 stated that the greater weight of evidence did not support a nexus between Appellant's inability to earn wages and the workplace injury and therefore the Appellant was not entitled to TTD benefits, but again, without references to the record.

This May 22, 2019, appeal followed.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The S.C. Administrative Procedures Act (“APA”) provides the standard for judicial review of decisions by the administrative Commission. S.C. Code Ann. §1-23-380; Pierre v. Seaside Farms, Inc., 386 S.C. 534, 540, 689 S.E.2d 615, 618 (2010); Lark v. Bi-Lo, Inc., 276 S.C. 130, 133-34, 276 S.E.2d 304, 306 (1981). “The court may not substitute its judgment for the judgment of the agency as to the weight of the evidence on questions of fact.” S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-380(5) (2011). “The findings of an administrative agency are presumed correct and will be set aside only if unsupported by substantial evidence. Gadson v. Mikasa Corp., 368 S.C. 214, 222, 628 S.E.2d 262, 266 (Ct.App.2006). The appellate court “may reverse or modify the [Commission’s] decision if substantial rights of the appellant have been prejudiced because the administrative findings, inferences, conclusions, or decisions are [a]ffected by other error of law [or are] clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence on the whole record.” S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-380(5)(d), € (Supp. 2011). “The Court of Appeals must affirm the Workers' Compensation Commission's decision unless it is clearly erroneous in view of the substantial evidence on the whole record.” Nettles v. Spartanburg School District #7, 341 S.C. 580, 535 S.E.2d 146 (Ct. App. 2000).

“[G]uiding [o]ur workers’ compensation system [is] that the Act is to be liberally construed in favor of the claimant. The second is the equally compelling evidentiary principle that an award may not rest upon surmise, conjecture, or speculation.” Hutson v. S.C. State Ports Authority, 399 S.C. 381, 732 S.E.2d 500 (2012). The Commission’s decision “must be founded on evidence of sufficient substance to afford a reasonable basis for it.” Wynn v. People’s Natural Gas Co. of S. C., 238 S.C. 1, 12, 118 S.E.2d 812, 818 (1961).

“The Appellate Panel is given discretion to weigh and consider all the evidence, both lay and expert, when deciding whether causation has been established.” Potter v. Spartanburg Sch. Dist. 7, 395 S.C. 17, 23, 716 S.E.2d 123, 126 (Ct. App. 2011). “[T]he fact finder may disregard” medical evidence only if there is other competent evidence in the record to support their conclusion. Id.

ARGUMENT

I. THE APPELLATE PANEL DID NOT HAVE SUBJECT MATTER JURISDICTION.

The Appellant maintains that the Full Panel lacked appellate jurisdiction and therefore the August 22, 2019, Hearing Commissioner's Order is the law of the case. S.C. Code Ann. §42-17-50 specifically prescribes fourteen (14) days from the date of a workers' compensation award in which to file an application for commission review. *See Allison v. W.L. Gore & Assoc.*, 394 S.C. 185, 714 S.E.2d 547 (S.C. 2011). The Full Panel did not have the authority to extend the fourteen (14) day filing period. *Id.* (finding the Full Panel lacked jurisdiction where the Appellant filed the Form 30 two days after fourteen-day statutory deadline).

“The fourteen (14) day period is jurisdictional. The Commission **will not accept** for filing a Form 30 that is not postmarked or delivered to the Commission by the fourteenth day from the date of receipt of the Hearing Commissioner's order.” S.C. Code of Regulations R.67-701 (Supp. 2010) (*emphasis added*).

The Administrative Tribunal served the executed Hearing Commissioner's order via electronic transfer on August 22, 2018. Therefore, the Form 30 Request for Commission Review deadline post-mark date was September 4, 2018. The Appellants' Form 30 request for review was clearly certified on September 10, 2018, six (6) days past the statutory deadline. Therefore, the Full Panel does not retain appellate jurisdiction and this appeal should be dismissed.

II. WHETHER THE APPELLATE PANEL'S APRIL 23, 2019, DECISION AND ORDER IS NULL AND VOID

Without subject matter jurisdiction, the Full Panel's order is null and void. *Webster v. Clanton*, 259 S.C. 387, 391, 192 S.E.2d 214, 216 (1972) (an order issued without jurisdiction is void and a void order has no legal effect).

III. ALTERNATIVELY, WHETHER THE APPELLATE PANEL’S DECISION WAS ERRONEOUS IN LIGHT OF THE RELIABLE, PROBATIVE, AND SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE AS A WHOLE.

The Appellant asserts that the Full Panel’s decision was “clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence on the whole record”. S.C. Code Ann §1-23-380. (5)(e). The record clearly supports that the Appellant was terminated without just cause based upon the evidence presented, lack of evidence presented, witness testimony, and record as a whole. “Under the Administrative Procedures Act (APA), the Court of Appeals may reverse or modify the decision of the Workers' Compensation Commission when the substantial rights of the appellant have been prejudiced because the decision is affected by an error of law or is clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence on the whole record.” Sellers v. Tech Service, Inc., 421 S.C. 30, 803 S.E.2d 731 (Ct. App. 2017), rehearing denied.

The Appellant was a thirty-seven (37) year nurse; hired not once, but twice, by the Employer; in a supervisory capacity; familiar with corrective actions; working light duty at her assigned location as a result of the accepted right shoulder and neck injuries; and absent any actual company violations. [HRG. TR. 6:7-10; 11:20-22; 12: 11-13:8; 13: 9-18] [Def. APA #1]. She testified that there was a disciplinary action form that was used to evaluate infractions, and which implemented essentially a three-strikes policy before termination based on a 60-day and then 90-day probationary period (per offense). [HRG. TR. 15:24 – 16:4]. The Appellant testified that to her knowledge, she has never had any corrective actions or company violations. [HRG. TR. 16:9-13].

On March 6, 2018, the Appellant worked light duty doing audits at the Lexington Hospice House. [HRG. TR. 16:20-17:1]. She met and had a conversation with Mr. Greg Charlton, who was a new employee of Agape as Lead Marketer. [HRG. TR. 17:2-14]. The Appellant provided

information about potential marketing, discussed changes at the Employer, and expressed concern about where she would be put. [HRG. TR. 17:15-18-19:18]. She states that she had a conversation with Mr. Charlton and Ms. Sarah Todd about other assisted living facilities where Agape could market and potentially get new patients. [HRG. TR. 17:12 – 18:18]. The Appellant mentioned that she was unhappy with herself because she was unable to work at her full capacity and mentioned that there had been a few changes for the nurses recently at Agape. [HRG. TR. 19:1-9]. Another marketer Sarah Todd was present but in and out. [HRG. TR. 18:2-5].

On March 8, 2018, the Appellant testified that she was at Hospice House on Stoneridge in the back room doing audits for the Hospice Houses which was part of her light duty. [HRG. TR. 19: 19-25]. The Appellant had a meeting called by Betsy Sippel without anyone else present. [HRG. TR. 20: 2-12]. Ms. Sippel present the Appellant with a separation agreement. [HRG. TR. 20: 15-16]. The Appellant stated she did not understand why she was being fired. [HRG. TR. 20:17]. Ms. Sippel responded that the employer heard that the Appellant was unhappy with Agape. [HRG. TR. 20:20-21]. The Appellant revoked the separation agreement. [HRG. TR. 22:4-16]. Following her termination, the Claimant went to the Center Street office on March 12, 2018, to turn in her company computer, charge cards and vehicle and revoked the separation agreement. [HRG. TR. 23: 6-24: 13]. The Claimant testified that she spoke with Amanda Whitehead, her advocate at Agape, and that it was the Claimant's understanding that she would not receive Workers' Compensation checks. [HRG. TR. 24:17-25: 3].

The Claimant was not aware that anyone alleged she spoke ill of the Employer prior to March 6, 2018. [HRG. TR. 25:20-23]. She left the Employer on good terms in 2015. [HRG. TR. 25: 24-26:1]. The Claimant stated she did not speak negatively after leaving on March 8, 2018. [HRG. TR. 26:2-8].

On cross examination, the Claimant did not present the disciplinary form and could not reference the form in the employee handbook [Def. APA #1]. [HRG. TR. 17-27:2; 28:1-10]. Further, the Claimant could not point to 60-day and then 90-day probation reference in the employee handbook, but stated they were on the disciplinary form. [HRG. TR. 28:11-29:11; 29:17-21]. The Claimant testified that if an employee called their boss stupid in front of other employees that they would be counseled, disciplined, but keep their job. [HRG. TR. 29:22-30:9].

On redirect the Claimant identified a separate policy that nurses followed on their laptops regarding infractions. [HRG. TR. 30:15- 31:8].

The Defense called witness Gregory McCarrick Charlton, the Director of Growth and Development at Agape for the past five (5) months. [HRG. TR. 33:4-8]. Mr. Charlton testified that on March 6, 2018, he had been working at Agape for two (2) weeks when he and Sarah Todd had a conversation when he met the Claimant. [HRG. TR. 33: 12-15; 34:5-13]. Mr. Charlton was dismayed by the conversation and subsequently made notes. [HRG. TR. 35:17-24; 42:19-24]. He reduced these notes to an email. [HRG. TR. 36: 1-37:2 Mr. Charlton informed Kelly Stone, Vice President of Operations. [HRG. TR. 42:25-43:3]. He testified he informed Vice President Stone out of concern. [HRG. TR. 43:7-13]. Mr. Charlton confirmed that coworker Sarah Todd was also present during the conversation with the Claimant on March 6, 2018. [HRG. TR. 43:14-15]. He did not receive any reward or promotion for passing on the information. [HRG. TR. 43:19-22].

On cross examination, Mr. Charlton testified that Vice President Stone requested that he provide notes about the March 6, 2018, conversation with the Claimant. [HRG. TR. 44:6-9]. He was not aware if Sarah Todd wrote a similar statement. [HRG. TR. 44:10-12]. Mr. Charlton traveled to approximately three (3) facilities on March 6, 2018 and met several people. [HRG. TR. 44:15-25].

The Defense then called Marilyn Elizabeth “Betsy” Sippel, the Chief Human Capital Officer of Agape since 2012. [HRG. TR. 46: 18-25]. She was over anything employee related, human resources, workers ‘compensation benefits, wellness programs, anything to do with employees. [HRG. TR. 47:1-5]. Ms. Sippel stated she was familiar with the Claimant and the Claimant’s accident on January 26, 2018. [HRG. TR. 47:6-13].

Ms. Sippel testified that Kelly Stone contacted her about alleged statements the Claimant made. [HRG. TR. 47: 14-22]. She acknowledged that Mr. Charlton’s testimony were the statements passed to her [HRG. TR. 23-48:3]. Ms. Sippel agreed that the Claimant was on light duty at the time the alleged statements were made. [HRG. TR. 48: 4-6]. Ms. Sippel testified that page eleven (11) of the Agape Employee Handbook states “it is not possible to list all forms of behavior that are considered unacceptable in the workplace.” [HRG. TR. 48: 7 – 49:1]. Pages 11 and 12 of the handbook cite a list of conduct that could potentially result in discipline, unrelated to the disciplinary forms previously discussed by the Claimant. [HRG. TR. 49:5 – 50:1]. However, Ms. Sippel acknowledged the disciplinary form the Claimant earlier testified about as a supervisor’s tool. [HRG. TR. 49:10-25]. The employee handbook did not address probationary periods or levels of infractions. [HRG. TR. 50:2-14].

Ms. Sippel noted that she, Kelly Stone, and Dee Dee Henderson were the ones to determine that the Claimant should be terminated, [though neither Ms. Stone nor Ms. Henderson were available witnesses]. [HRG. TR. 50: 15-19]. Ms. Sippel testified that they looked at the statements made by the Claimant and felt that they were included by three (3) different categories in the handbook as reasons for termination: gossiping, insubordination, and failure to maintain proper working relationships. [HRG. TR. 50:20 – 51: 5]. Ms. Sippel testified that the alleged statements were harmful and spoiled the agency. [HRG. TR. 51:6-14]. Additionally, it was noted that the

Claimant called the owner of Agape “so stupid” and that it is company policy that employees can be fired for one incident according to the handbook. [HRG. TR.51: 15 – 53:19]. Ms. Sippel stated she felt that “so stupid” and “stupid” were the same thing but did not know why the email cited “so stupid”. [HRG. TR. 51:15-52:13]. The Employer was preparing to open a call center and looked to the Claimant to perform in one of those positions as part of her light duty. [HRG. TR. 52: 21-53:8]. Ms. Sippel testified that she previously fired persons for one violation and that the Claimant’s violation rose to the level of termination. [HRG. TR. 53:12-21].

Ms. Sippel recognized Claimant’s Exhibit #2 as an email exchange received from Ms. Stone regarding Mr. Charlton’s conversation with the Claimant. [HRG. TR. 58:1-16]. She did not remember what date the termination decision was made. [HRG. TR. 58:17-19]. Ms. Sippel confirmed no one else was present when she met the Claimant on March 8, 2018. [HRG. TR. 58: 20-59:2]. However, she testified that there were no disciplinary or corrective actions involving the Claimant leading up to termination. [HRG. TR. 59:11-18].

The Full Panel’s decision was based in part as follows: “Furthermore, Appellant had every opportunity at the hearing to deny that she made the disparaging comments. She never did so.” S.C. Regulation 67-603 governs an Employer’s response to a Claimant’s hearing request. An Employer can admit and deny allegations. However, the Act does not have a comparable requirement for Appellants. In no place does the statutory scheme prevent a Claimant’s recovery based upon the absence of the word “deny.” Appellant testified specifically in detail about the controversial conversation she remembered with Gregory Charlton. The Full Panel’s decision held the Appellant to a nonexistent standard of law.

Mr. Charlton testified he visited several facilities and talked to many people on March 6, 2018, during his employee orientation. Neither Ms. Todd nor “other employees” were present at the hearing