THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY  
South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission

R. Michael Campbell, II, Commissioner; Aisha G. Taylor, Commissioner; Susan S. Barden,  
Commissioner

---

W.C.C. File No.: 1802954  
APPELLATE CASE NO.: 2019-000869

---

**RECEIVED**  
DEC 09 2019  
SC Court of Appeals

Judy Johnson, Employee, Appellant,

v.

Agape Hospice, Employer; and MagMutual Insurance Company, Carrier; Respondents.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS**

---

Stephen R. Smoak, Esquire  
Savage, Royall & Sheheen, LLP  
Post Office Drawer 10  
Camden, South Carolina 29021  
803-432-4391

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

DID THE APPELLATE PANEL CORRECTLY DECIDE APPELLANT WAS TERMINATED FOR CAUSE BASED ON THE SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE IN THE RECORD?

DID THE APPELLATE PANEL CORRECTLY RULE THE RESPONDENTS' FORM 30 WAS TIMELY FILED WITH THE SOUTH CAROLINA WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case is a workers' compensation matter in which Judy Johnson ("Appellant") suffered a compensable shoulder injury while lifting a patient in bed on January 26, 2018. Appellant missed about one week of work from her employer Agape Hospice ("Respondents") and was then allowed to return to light duty. Appellant was terminated for cause from her employment on March 8, 2018 as a result of insubordinate and hostile comments she made to fellow employees on March 6, 2018.

Appellant then filed a Form 50 seeking Temporary Total Disability (TTD) compensation from Respondent, which was denied by Respondent in its filed Form 51 due to Appellant's termination for cause.

At the hearing held on June 26, 2018, the Single Commissioner found that Appellant was wrongfully terminated while on light duty. Because of what he deemed to be an "unjustified firing," the Single Commissioner found that payment of TTD to Appellant should begin effective March 8, 2018. The Single Commissioner's Order was electronically served on the parties on August 22, 2018.

On September 10, 2018, exactly 14 days after electronic service was completed upon the parties pursuant to the relevant statutes and regulations, the Respondents timely filed a Form 30 with the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission seeking a

review of the decision with a full Appellate Panel of the Commission (“Appellate Panel”).

After thoroughly reviewing the evidence and hearing oral arguments on February 19, 2019, the Appellate Panel issued its order on April 23, 2019 reversing the Single Commissioner. The Appellate Panel’s findings include: a) Appellant was justifiably terminated for cause on March 8, 2018 for violation of the Respondents’ policies and common workplace expectations; b) the holding in Pollack v. Southern Wine and Spirits of America, 405 S.C. 9, 747 S.E.2d 430 (2013) applies directly to the present case; and c) Appellant is not entitled to temporary total disability benefits for any period of time following the January 26, 2018 work accident because she was terminated for just cause. The Appellate Panel also found the Respondents had timely filed the Form 30 within the appropriate time requirements. The Appellate Panel findings were supported by specific references to the record in its decision and analysis.

Appellant filed this appeal on May 22, 2019.

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

The South Carolina Administrative Procedures Act (APA) establishes the standard for judicial review of decisions by the Appellate Panel. McCuen v. BMW Mfg. Corp., 383 S.C. 19, 677 S.E. 2d 28, 31 (Ct. App. 2009); Lark v. Bi-Lo, Inc., 276 S.C. 130, 133-34, 276 S.E.2d 304, 306 (1981). The appellate court may not substitute its judgment for that of the Appellate Panel as to the weight of the evidence on questions of fact, but may reverse where the decision is affected by an error of law. Stone v. Traylor Bros., Inc., 360 S.C. 271, 274, 600 S.E.2d 551, 552 (Ct. App. 2004).

The Appellate Panel's decision must be affirmed if supported by substantial evidence in the record. Shuler v. Gregory Elec., 366 S.C. 435, 440, 622 S.E.2d 569, 571 (Ct. App. 2004). An appellate court may only reverse or modify the Appellate Panel's decision if the appellant's substantial rights have been prejudiced because the decision is affected by an error of law or is "clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative and substantial evidence on the whole record." S.C. Code Ann § 1-23-380 (2006); Bursey v. S.C. Dep't of Health & Envtl. Control, 360 S.C. 135, 141, 600 S.E.2d 80, 84 (Ct. App. 2004). "The possibility of drawing inconsistent conclusions from the evidence does not prevent an administrative agency's finding from being supported by substantial evidence." Palmetto Alliance, Inc. v. S.C. Pub. Serv. Comm'n., 282 S.C. 430, 432, 319 S.E.2d 695, 696 (1984).

In workers' compensation cases, the Appellate Panel is the ultimate finder of fact. Shealy v. Aiken County, 341 S.C. 448, 445, 535 S.E.2d 438, 442 (2000). When the evidence is conflicting over a factual issue, the findings of the Appellate Panel are conclusive. Hargrove v. Titan Textile Co., 360 S.C. 276, 290, 599 S.E.2d 604, 611 (Ct.

App. 2004). The final determination of witness credibility and the weight to accorded evidence is reserved for the Appellate Panel. Bass v. Kenco Group, 366 S.C. 450, 458, 622 S.E.2d 577, 581 (Ct. App. 2005).

## FACTS

Appellant was working for Respondents when she suffered an injury to her shoulder lifting a patient in bed on January 26, 2018. All parties acknowledge Appellant sustained compensable injuries in a work-related incident. She missed a week of work and then was allowed to return to light duty. At the beginning of March 2018, Appellant was about to be transferred to Respondents' new call center for a new light duty position. (R. p. 193, line 24- p. 194, line 11). Appellant, however, was terminated for cause from her employment on March 8, 2018 as a result of insubordinate, derogatory, and hostile comments she made to fellow employees on March 6, 2018. (R. p. 191, line 15- p. 192, line 5).

On March 6th, Greg Charlton, Respondents' Director of Growth and Development, had been conducting an orientation with one of Respondents' new employees. (R. p. 174, lines 12-15). Charlton himself had only been working for Respondents for a few weeks. (R. p. 174, lines 23-25). He had never met Appellant before March 6, 2018. (R. p. 174, lines 15-17). In Charlton's encounter with Appellant that day while touring one of Respondents' hospice facilities, Appellant repeatedly disparaged Respondents in great detail. (R. p. 177, line 8- p. 178, line 2). Appellant even called her boss "stupid." (R. p. 177, lines 20-21). Appellant stated in advance of her tirade, "I don't know who you are but I'm going to just say it as it is." (R. p. 175, lines 10-12). Some of those statements were:

- Scott (owner/CEO of Employer) is so stupid.
- They should close this place down.
- Their inventory is so screwed up.
- People are walking out the door left and right.
- I'm surprised you didn't do more research before coming on board.
- This company is going to hell in a hand basket.

-Closing the assisted living facilities was the dumbest thing.  
(R. p. 177, line 8- p. 178, line 2).

Charlton was so dismayed at what he heard that he wrote down what Appellant had said as soon as he got into his car. (R. p. 183, lines 23-24). Charlton then informed his supervisor about the incident. (R. p. 184, lines 1-3).

Betsy Sippel, Chief Human Capital Officer for Respondents, called Appellant into her office two days later and terminated Appellant for cause for violating multiple company policies, which included calling the owner/CEO of Respondents “stupid.” (R. p. 191, line 15- p. 192, line 18). Sippel believed Appellant’s conduct was harmful to Respondents and fit squarely within forbidden employee conduct in the Employee Handbook. (Id.). Among the prohibited conduct outlined in the handbook is: 1) insubordination; and 2) failure to maintain proper working relationships. (Id.) (R. p. 246). The Employee Handbook had been signed and acknowledged by Appellant. (R. p. 153, line 11- p. 154, line 8) (R. p. 236).

Appellant has never disputed making the hostile comments. None of Charlton’s testimony was ever disputed by Appellant. Charlton’s credibility was never questioned at the hearing. (R. p. 185, line 6- p. 186, line 1). Appellant had every opportunity at the hearing to deny that she made the disparaging comments. She never did so. Appellant simply did not agree with the consequences of her actions. When asked on cross-examination if she would expect an employee to keep their job after calling their boss stupid in front of other employees, the Appellant stated “yes, probably. Yeah.” (R. p. 170, line 22- p. 171, line 9).

## ARGUMENTS

### 1. THERE WAS SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE IN THE RECORD FOR THE APPELLATE PANEL TO DECIDE APPELLANT WAS TERMINATED FOR CAUSE.

The record contained substantial evidence to support the Appellate Panel's decision. For an injured employee to be entitled to TTD compensation, there must be a nexus between the work-related injury and the inability to earn wages. Pollack v. Southern Wine and Spirits of America, 405 S.C. 9, 747 S.E. 2d 430 (2013). There is no such nexus in this instance because Appellant was terminated for just cause. The plain language ruling of Pollack is that an Employer can terminate an Employee while the Employee is on light duty if it is for cause, thus disqualifying the Employee from receiving TTD. Id.

The findings of fact in the Appellate Panel Order, as explained in the decision and analysis, set forth ample grounds for Respondent to terminate Appellant for cause. (R. pp. 18-22). As the ultimate finder of fact, the Appellate Panel found that Appellant's behavior had violated both common workplace expectations and also Respondents' specific employment policies. (R. pp. 20-21); See Shealy v. Aiken County, 341 S.C. 448, 445, 535 S.E.2d 438, 442 (2000).

Even without the specific policies as set forth in Employer's handbook, it is unacceptable in any workplace environment for an employee to call the boss "stupid" and expect to remain employed by that entity. In this instance, Appellant called the owner/CEO "stupid" in front of two new co-employees whom she had never met. (R. p. 177, lines 20-21). This did not occur in a quick outburst of frustration- Appellant prefaced the comments by saying, "I don't know who you are but I'm going to just say it

as it is.” (R. p. 175, lines 10-14). This testimony was never disputed. Furthermore, Appellant had every opportunity at the hearing to deny that she made the disparaging comments. She never did so. Appellant simply did not agree with the consequences of her actions. When asked on cross-examination if she would expect an employee to keep their job after calling their boss stupid in front of other employees, the Appellant stated “yes, probably. Yeah.” (R. p. 170, line 22- p. 171, line 9).

In addition to calling the boss “stupid,” Appellant also stated the following:

- They should close this place down.
  - Their inventory is so screwed up.
  - People are walking out the door left and right.
  - I’m surprised you didn’t do more research before coming on board.
  - This company is going to hell in a hand basket.
  - Closing the assisted living facilities was the dumbest thing.
- (R. p. 177, line 9- p. 178, line 2).

The new employee was so dismayed at what he heard that he wrote down what Appellant had said as soon as he got into his car. (R. p. 183, lines 23-24). He then informed his supervisor about the incident, and Appellant was terminated two days later. (R. p. 183, line 25- p. 184, line 3).

Respondent established its own company policies to govern the behavior of its employees and has a legitimate business interest in the enforcement of the policies. South Carolina appellate courts have consistently upheld this principle: “An employer has the right to establish and enforce any lawful and reasonable business policies, and an employee is obligated to obey the employer, even if an employer’s commands or policies seem harsh or severe.” *O’Neal v. Intermedical Hospital of South Carolina*, 355 S.C. 499, 585 S.E. 2d 526 (Ct. App. 2003). Simply because an employee is on light-duty does not change the expected standard of behavior. The substantial evidence as presented shows

the Respondent was not just “looking for” a reason to discharge Appellant, but instead acted in accordance with its policies and rules which Appellant did violate.

Appellant argues that she did not admit to a company violation and therefore does not fall under the holding in Pollack v. Southern Wine and Spirits of America, 405 S.C. 9, 747 S.E.2d 430 (2013). This claim is not a true interpretation of Pollack. In Pollack, the South Carolina Supreme Court ruled that an employee’s inability to earn wages must be “due to” or “because of” the injury for the employee to be entitled to TTD. Id. Here, Appellant’s inability to earn wages was because of her own misconduct which resulted in her termination for cause. Appellant’s inability to earn wages was not due to her injury. Nor does it matter that Appellant failed to admit a company violation- especially when the testimony regarding Appellant’s hostile comments towards her employer was undisputed. Furthermore, even though Appellant has not admitted her behavior, she has also not denied it. The only testimony and evidence in the record about Appellant’s comments is from Charlton’s testimony and notes.

Appellant would likely still be working in her light-duty position if not for her violation of company policy. In fact, Respondent’s representative testified that Appellant was in the process of being transitioned over to a new call center where Appellant’s duties would have fit within her light-duty work restrictions at the time. (R. p. 193, line 21- p. 194, line 11). During the approximately six (6) weeks Appellant was on light duty, Respondent had accommodated all of Appellant’s work restrictions, and no evidence was presented to show that Respondent was unwilling to continue to do so.

Appellant asserts the Appellate Panel failed to “carefully scrutinize” the Respondent’s denial of TTD benefits pursuant to Pollack v. Southern Wine and Spirits of

America, 405 S.C. 9, 747 S.E.2d 430 (2013). This ignores the specific Finding of Fact in paragraph 7 which states “The holding in Pollack applies directly to the present case.” (R. p. 21). It also ignores the fifth finding of Fact which held “The Defendants (Respondents) did not simply ‘look for’ a reason to terminate the Claimant (Appellant), but rather acted in accordance with its policies, which Claimant (Appellant) did violate.” (R. p. 21).

2. THE RESPONDENTS’ FORM 30 WAS TIMELY FILED WITH THE SOUTH CAROLINA WORKERS’ COMPENSATION COMMISSION.

Appellant incorrectly asserts the Appellate Panel did not have subject matter jurisdiction to hear the case, and therefore its order is null and void. Appellant claims the Appellate Panel “extended” the fourteen (14) day filing period. This did not happen. The filing time period did not begin until after receipt of service of the Single Commissioner’ Order.

The Single Commissioner’s Order was electronically served on the parties on August 22, 2018. (R. p. 3). Section 67-213 of the S.C. Code of Regulations governs service of orders in Worker’s Compensation cases and provides in relevant part: